Complications of hypercalciuria

Andrew Schwaderer¹, Tarak Srivastava²

¹Division or Nephrology, Nationwide Children's Hospital, The Ohio State University, ²Bone and Mineral Disorder Clinic, The Children's Mercy Hospital and Clinics, University of Missouri at Kansas City

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

- 2.1. Overview of calcium metabolism
- 2.2. Regulation of calcium metabolism as it relates to hypercalciuria
- 2.3. Subtypes of idiopathic hypercalciuria
- 2.4. Genetics of hypercalciuria
- 3. Clinical consequences of hypercalciuria
 - 3.1. Hypercalciuria and nephrolithiasis
 - 3.2. Hypercalciuria and hematuria
 - 3.3. Hypercalciuria and voiding symptoms and abdominal pain
 - 3.4. Hypercalciuria and urinary tract infection
 - 3.5. *Hypercalciuria and bone mineral density*
 - 3.6. Hypercalciuria and Hypertension
- 4. Approach and management of hypercalciuria
- 5. Summary
- 6. References

1. ABSTRACT

Idiopathic hypercalciuria is a common disorder in children and can present with a range of clinical presentations such as hematuria, voiding dysfunction, flank pain, abdominal pain, nephrolithiasis, urinary tract infection and decreased bone mineral density. In the review below we provide a brief overview of calcium metabolism, types and clinical consequences of hypercalciuria and a brief approach to evaluation and management of hypercalciuria.

2. INRODUCTION

Hypercalciuria is a common condition, with a prevalence of 2-6 % in the pediatric population, and is the most common cause of nephrolithiasis in children from Western society (1, 2). The term idiopathic hypercalciuria was introduced by Albright in 1953 to describe patients with recurrent nephrolithiasis who had elevated urinary calcium excretion without concomitant hypercalcemia (3). The etiology of hypercalciuria is complex and involves interactions between the gastrointestinal tract, bone and

kidney, which is further influenced by hormones, such as parathyroid hormone (PTH), calcitonin, and 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 (1,25 (OH2)D3) (4, 5). Often a primary defect in one organ induces compensatory responses in the remaining two organs. For example, there is an increased intestinal absorption of calcium secondary to a primary renal loss. Hypercalciuria can be either idiopathic or secondary. In this review we will discuss the clinical consequences of hypercalciuria with a brief approach to evaluation and management of idiopathic hypercalciuria in children.

2.1. Overview of calcium metabolism

Calcium exists in three distinct pools in the body. The largest pool is in the skeleton, followed by extracellular calcium, with a minimal amount in the intracellular space. These pools are tightly controlled by known physiological homeostatic mechanisms with >99% of calcium existing as mineral component of bone and <1% in extracellular fluid, and these calcium pool levels deviate <2% under normal conditions (6). The serum calcium consists of three fractions, 50-55% is ionized or free calcium; 35-40% is bound to proteins, mostly albumin; and 10% is complexed to low molecular weight anions (7). Calcium absorption in the gastrointestinal tract occurs via two transport processes, active vitamin D regulated transcellular absorption, and by a passive paracellular absorption that is dependent on the dietary calcium load (8, 9). Currently it is thought that the paracellular pathway predominates when the diet is replete in calcium, while the vitamin D-dependent transcellular pathway becomes critical during periods of limited dietary calcium. The free or ionized calcium (i.e. non-albumin bound calcium) in serum is ultrafiltrated in the glomerulus, which then has to be reabsorbed by the renal tubule to maintain calcium homeostasis. Approximately 70% of calcium retrieval occurs in the proximal tubule and approximately 20% occurs in the thick ascending loop of Henle (TALH), by a paracellular mechanism (10, 11). Solvent drag from salt and water absorption is responsible for calcium absorption in the proximal tubule while the paracellular calcium absorption in the TALH occurs secondary to the lumenpositive potential generated by the sodium absorption from the NKCC2, ROMK and Chloride channel (12). Therefore calcium absorption in the renal tubule is inversely related to sodium absorption. Thus, limiting excessive sodium in diet is extremely important for management of hypercalciuria. The fine tuning of calcium homeostasis occurs at the distal convoluted tubule, connecting tubule, and initial portion of the cortical collecting duct by modulating reabsorption of the remaining $\sim 10\%$ calcium through an active transcellular pathway (10, 11, 13). The active transcellular calcium transport in the distal tubule is regulated by PTH and 1.25 (OH)2D3 (14, 15).

2.2. Regulation of calcium metabolism as it relates to hypercalciuria

The tubular reabsorption of filtered calcium is affected by PTH, 1,25- (OH)2-D, extracellular fluid volume, acid-base status, serum calcium and magnesium concentrations. PTH and 1,25- (OH)2-D play an important role in calcium homeostasis and modulate serum levels of each other. PTH increases serum calcium through several well characterized mechanisms, including stimulation of renal calcium absorption and phosphate excretion, osteoclast activity and bone resorption, and 1 α -hydroxylase activity and synthesis of 1,25- (OH)2-D by renal proximal tubular cells, which in turn increases intestinal calcium and phosphorous absorption. Thus PTH accrues calcium from bone, kidney and intestinal sources to restore the extracellular calcium. Conversely, when extracellular calcium rises above its setpoint, PTH secretion decreases thus bringing the calcium down toward the setpoint. PTH primarily maintains the serum calcium around its setpoint, while 1,25- (OH)2-D is believed to play a major role in development of hypercalciuria.

1,25- (OH)2-D appears to be important in development of hypercalciuria through its action on gastrointestinal tract and bone as suggested by (a) NPT 2a^{-/-} gene knockout mouse models and genetic hypercalciuric stone-forming rats, (b) clinical observation in subjects with X-linked hypophosphatemic rickets who develop hypercalciuria only after therapy is initiated with calcitriol, (c) the administration of 1,25 (OH)2D3 in healthy subjects on a normal-calcium diet led to an increase in intestinal calcium absorption and an increase in urinary calcium excretion -(16), (d) in subjects on a calcium restricted diet that receive calcitriol develop a negative calcium balance from increased urinary calcium loss mediated through increased bone resorption (17), (e) intoxication with vitamin D gives rise to hypercalcemia and hypercalciuria by stimulating intestinal calcium absorption; of note, hypercalciuria usually precedes hypercalcemia as indicator of vitamin D overdose (18) and (f) cross sectional clinical studies in patients with hypercalciuria where it has been observed that serum calcitriol levels are, on average, either inappropriately normal for the clinical scenario or higher in patients with idiopathic hypercalciuria compared to healthy controls (19).

It is possible that cytokines may play a role in the rare "resorptive hypercalciuria" where a primary bone disorder is believed to be the inciting defect, and the less common renal hypercalciuria may arise from "renal leak" of calcium. Cytokines are known to induce bone resorption and inhibit bone formation. Cytokines such as interleukin-1 β , interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor- α , and granulocyte, macrophage stimulating factor have been found to be increased in hypercalciuric calcium stone forming subjects with increased bone loss (20, 21). Metabolic bone diseases that are associated with a primary increased bone turnover, independent of PTH or vitamin D, which are associated hypercalciuria are osteogenesis with imperfecta. hypophosphatasia and metaphyseal chondrodysplasia (Jansen type) (22-25)

2.3. Subtypes of idiopathic hypercalciuria

Idiopathic hypercalciuria has traditionally been divided into three subtypes; absorptive, renal and resorptive hypercalciuria (26). The classification has been further modified over the years, based on urine calcium excretion, serum phosphate, and serum PTH secretion during fasting and after a calcium load (27). Idiopathic hypercalciuria results from either or a combination of (1) increased gastrointestinal calcium absorption from a direct increase calcium absorption (Type absorptive in 1 hypercalciuria) or through excess 1.25dihydroxyvitamin D3 (1,25 (OH)2D3)-mediated calcium absorption (Type II absorptive hypercalciuria); (2) decreased renal absorption of either calcium (renal hypercalciuria) or phosphorus (Type III absorptive hypercalciuria); (3) enhanced bone resorption (resorptive hypercalciuria) (12, 28, 29). Patients with renal and absorptive hypercalciuria normalize urine calcium excretion when treated with thiazides, but only the renal hypercalciuric group showed a decrease in intestinal hyperabsorption, PTH and calcitriol levels (30). The aforementioned results suggest that calcium leak is the inciting event in renal hypercalciuria and abnormal 1,25- (OH)₂-D metabolism is the inciting event in absorptive hypercalciuria. Hypercalciuria appears to be a complex trait, and it is possible that absorptive and renal forms of hypercalciuria may represent a continuum of a single disease (31, 32). Renal and absorptive hypercalciuria may not be distinct physiologic entities as indicated by the lack of increased bone turnover in hypercalciuric children (33). When children initially diagnosed with having either renal or absorptive hypercalciuria received a calcium loading tests after an interval of 3-7 years, a different result was obtained in more than half of the children studied (34). Although the classification of hypercalciuria subtypes has been questioned, it still provides a reasonable framework to methodically approach an evaluation of a difficult child with hypercalciuria.

2.4. Genetics of hypercalciuria

A genetic contribution to hypercalciuria is suggested by both familial clustering of nephrolithiasis and hypercalciuria. After controlling for known dietary factors, a positive family history appears to be the single most important risk factor for nephrolithiasis (35). Since hypercalcuria is the most common underlying metabolic abnormality associated with nephrolithiasis, increased familial clustering of nephrolithiasis suggest an increased familial clustering of hypercalciuria. In children with hypercalciuria, the prevalence of nephrolithiasis in the family is 69% (36). A genetic defect in three families with severe absorptive hypercalciuria has been mapped to 1q23.3-q24, with a candidate gene subsequently sequenced (37). Eighteen base substitutions in the candidate gene have been identified, four of which increased the relative risk of absorptive hypercalciuria by 2.2-3.5 fold (38). Imamura et al (39) and Giuffre et al (40) have identified three unrelated children with hypercalciuria with a 4q33-qter and 4q31.3-qter deletion respectively, raising the possibility of a contributing gene for a hypercalcuria phenotype in the region. Currently the hypercalciuria appears to be a complex (polygenic) trait that results from both genetic and environmental factors (41, 42). The expression pattern of idiopathic calcium nephrolithiasis is most compatible with autosomal dominant transmission, but the quantitative genetics of urine calcium excretion remains to be determined.

3. CLINICAL CONSEQUENCES OF IDIOPATHIC HYPERCALCIURIA

3.1 Hypercalciuria and nephrolithiasis

Coe et al assessed that 5% of women and 12% of men in USA will develop a kidney stone in their life span (43). Hypercalciuria is the most frequently encountered abnormality in children nephrolithiasis, identified in 28% to 79% of children with kidney stones (44, 45). The majority of stones are composed of calcium with 45-65% consisting of calcium oxalate and 14-30% consisting of calcium phosphate (46). Nephrolithiasis in children can present as acute renal colic, a urinary tract infection, gross or asymptomatic hematuria or as an incidental finding on an imaging study. Nephrolithiasis is the primary pathology associated with hypercalciuria since it associated with severe pain and recurrent stones can lead to progressive renal failure (47, 48). The risk of developing kidney stones in patients with idiopathic hypercalciuria has varied between studies from 0/33 (0%) developing stones with a 4-11 year follow-up (49), to 9/58 (16%) with a 1-6 year follow-up (50), to 4/30 (13%) with a 1-3 year follow-up (36) and 8/60 (13%) with a 1-4 year follow-up (51). The presence of gross hematuria, a family history of nephrolithiasis and greater levels of hypercalciuria in a dose-effect association increase the likelihood of progression from hypercalciuria to nephrolithiasis (50, 52). The recurrence risk of nephrolithiasis is 27% to 50% for adults within 10 years of the first stone episode (53, 54). Noe HN on follow up of 27 of 44 children with nephrolithiasis associated with hypercalciuria, found 9/27 (33%) to develop a recurrence of stone 3-15 years (mean 7.2 years) from the first presentation (55).

3.2 Hypercalciuria and hematuria

Hematuria is frequently encountered in children in the primary care setting with an incidence of 1.3 per 1000 for gross hematuria and 41 per 1000 for microscopic hematuria (56, 57). Hematuria may be caused by injury to the glomeruli, renal interstitium, renal vasculature or the urinary tract (58). Hematuria in hypercalciuria is thought to result from injury to the urinary tract (58). The association between hematuria and hypercalciuria has been demonstrated in multiple studies. Twenty six to thirty six percent of patients with hematuria have no identifiable basis for hematuria other than hypercalciuria (51-60). On the other hand 31% of patients with hypercalciuria have hematuria (61). The incidence of hypercalciuria is similar in children with gross and microscopic hematuria (60). The subtype of absorptive and renal hypercalciuria is evenly distributed in children with hematuria (59). Hematuria in idiopathic hypercalciuria patients is characterized by calcium oxalate crystalluria, a family history of hypercalciuria, and the absence of red blood cell cast in the urine (51). Although the mechanism for hematuria in hypercalciuria is not known, the hematuria resolves with anticalciuric therapy in the vast majority of cases (59, 60).

3.3 Hypercalciuria and voiding symptoms and abdominal pain

Between 8 and 30 % of patients diagnosed with hypercalciuria present secondary to voiding symptoms (36,

61). The diurnal voiding symptoms described in patients with idiopathic hypercalciuria include urinary urgency, frequency, dysuria, enuresis and suprapubic pain and are hypothesized to occur from injury to the urinary epithelium secondary to calcium microcrystallization (62). Α retrospective review of 288 children that presented secondary to functional voiding disorders reported hypercalciuria in 28% who presented with gross hematuria and voiding symptoms, 30% with microscopic hematuria and voiding symptoms, 21% with urinary frequency, 22% with dysuria, and 28% with combined urgency frequency and dysuria (62). In addition to voiding symptoms, idiopathic hypercalciuria has been associated with recurrent flank and/or abdominal pain (in the absence of nephrolithiasis) that improves or resolves with increased fluids, reduction of dietary sodium and oxalates and in some cases thiazide therapy (36, 63). Hypercalciuria decreases the effect of vasopressin mediated water reabsorption in the distal tubule leading to polyuria, and thus has been proposed to be a potential risk factor in development of nocturnal enuresis with conflicting results in reported studies. The findings of Valenti et al (59) and Pace et al (60) support a role for hypercalciuria in nocturnal enuresis (64-66). This was not found to be true in two other studies in children with nocturnal enuresis where no significant difference was observed compared to controls for either daytime or nighttime urinary calcium excretion (67, 68). A study of 450 children identified a significant incidence of nighttime, but not daytime, hypercalciuria and low vasopressin levels in enuretic children (69). The role of hypercalciuria in the evaluation and treatment of nocturnal enuresis remains uncertain.

3.4 Hypercalciuria and urinary tract infection

Urinary tract infections (UTI) occur frequently in infants and children with an incidence of 5% in febrile patients between 2 and 24 months of age (70). In addition, by 6 years of age, 7% of girls and 2% of boys will have had at least one urinary tract infection (71). The long term morbidity from urinary tract infections is from renal scarring which can lead to hypertension and reduced renal function (72). In order to limit the morbidity associated with urinary tract infections, identification and treatment of predisposing factors with the goal of preventing recurrent urinary tract infections is desirable. Urinary tract infections are a well known complication of nephrolithiasis, presumably secondary to the renal stones serving as a nidus where bacteria can congregate without being flushed from the urinary tract during voiding and/or increased susceptibility to urinary tract epithelium secondary to physical damage (73, 74). Akil et al demonstrated in rat model that hypercalciuria produces an adverse effect on the cell architecture of uroepithelum and disruption in the epithelial barrier of bladder and ureter which would predispose to urinary tract infection (75). Stojanović et al found 21% of children with UTI had hypercalciuria compared to 7% in normal children; of which hypercalciuria was seen in 10% of children with first UTI and in 44% with recurrent UTI (76). Similarly Biyikli et al found 43% of children with recurrent UTI had hypercalciuria (77). On the other hand, in children with symptomatic idiopathic hypercalciuria Vachvanichsanong

et al found 40% to have a UTI of which 78% were recurrent (78). A reduction in urinary calcium excretion with increased fluid intake, reduction of dietary sodium and oxalate, and thiazide diuretic (in 36%) resulted in no further UTIs in 61% of children with recurrent UTIs (78). In another study children with recurrent UTI, normal urinary tract and idiopathic hypercalciuria no further UTIs occurred in 95% following normalization of urinary calcium excretion with treatment of hypercalciuria (79). Hypercalciuria as a contributing factor should be a consideration in the evaluation and management of children with recurrent urinary tract infections.

3.5 Hypercalciuria and bone mineral density

Rapid bone formation typically occurs in children and adolescent with the peak bone mineral density obtained in late adolescence (80). There is a gradual loss of bone mineral density starting in the third decade of life and any disturbance to obtain the peak bone density as a young adult is a preventable risk factor for osteoporosis later in life (81). Thus acquiring an optimal bone mass during childhood is a major determinant of future adult bone health (82). Additionally, osteoporosis in childhood is being increasingly recognized as a clinical problem in high risk patient populations (81).

Over the last three decades, an association between decreased bone density and hypercalciuric kidney stones has been identified in several studies in adults (83-86). Lower bone density has been observed in hypercalcuric compared to normocalciuric stone formers (85, 87). Factors associated with decreased bone density in hypercalcuria patients include the male gender and increasing severity of hypercalciuria (84, 88-89). Adults with renal hypercalcuria have a trend towards higher rates of decreased bone density than those with absorptive hypercalciuria (84, 86, 90). Few studies have reported no reduction in bone mineral density in adults with absorptive hypercalciuria (83, 91). Nephrolithiasis has been associated with a higher rate of vertebral fractures in men, with a potential male predominance (89, 92). Histomorphometric evaluation of hypercalcuria patients with low bone density has revealed severe mineralization defect and decreased bone formation (86, 93). The fracture risk in idiopathic hypercalciuria patients has not yet been evaluated.

In children, Penido et al identified a low bone mineral density in 35% of children with idiopathic hypercalciuria, and in a subsequent study they found that these findings were more marked in hypercalciuric children with hypocitraturia (94, 95). Garcia-Neto et al also identified a decrease in bone mineral density in 30% of children with hypercalciuria but made the observation of a negative linear correlation between age and bone mineral content in children with idiopathic hypercalciuria (96). This raises the possibility in the hypercalciuric children that the decrease in bone density progresses over time and the origin of adult osteoporosis may occur in childhood (96). Similarly, Freundlich et al showed that reduced bone mineral density was present in 38% of children with hypercalciuria, and also identified a high incidence of both hypercalciuria and reduced bone mineral density in their

asymptomatic mothers (97). The data in both children and adults indicate that the risk for low bone mineral density is present in patients with hypercalciuria. Although it is not done conventionally the data in literature would support that clinicians should consider monitoring bone mineral density as a proxy for calcium balance in children. The present pharmacological treatments of hypercalciuria and/or nephrolithiasis such as citrate and thiazide diuretics have been shown in adults to increase bone mineral density (98-100). It should be noted that the effect of antihypercalciuric therapy on bone mineral density in hypercalciuric children has not been systematically evaluated.

3.6 Hypercalciuria and Hypertension

A relationship between hypercalciuria and hypertension has been suggested (101, 102). Hypercalcuria has been identified in 35% of 112 adult patients with essential hypertension compared to 2% of controls (103). The association between hypercalciuria and hypertension is controversial and other studies have failed to detect increased urinary calcium excretion in hypertensive patients when compared to normotensive controls (104). The possibility exist that a subset of hypercalcuria patients are at risk for hypertension. In adult patients with kidney stones, hypertension is associated with patients that have both hyperuricosuria and hypercalciuria, but not in patients with either of the aforementioned urinary abnormalities in isolation (105). The presence of other variables such as the dietary sodium intake and body habitus make the potential association between hypercalciuria and hypertension difficult to elucidate.

4. APPROACH AND MANAGEMENT OF HYPERCALCIURIA

Hypercalciuria in children can present as hematuria (gross or microscopic), dysuria, voiding dysfunction, abdominal pain and flank pain, or with nephrolithiasis (59, 106). It can be intermittent or persistent, occur in isolation or associated with a family history of nephrolithiasis. Once hypercalciuria is detected in a child before it is labeled as idiopathic hypercalciuria, one must consider the possibility of a secondary etiology causing hypercalciuria, for successful treatment of hypercalciuria in such cases depends on accurate diagnosis and management of the primary cause. An increase in urinary calcium excretion can occur from: (a) increased intestinal calcium absorption (vitamin D excess, increased calcium intake, congenital lactase deficiency, congenital sucrase-isomaltase deficiency and glucose/ galactose malabsorption and blue diaper syndrome), (b) impaired renal tubular calcium reabsorption (distal renal tubular acidosis, Dent's disease, activating mutations in calcium sensing receptor gene, familial hypomagnesemia with hypercalciuria and nephrocalcinosis, loop diuretics), (c) bone resorption (immobilization, hyperparathyroidism, steroid use, neoplasm, metabolic bone diseases), (d) renal tubular phosphate leak (hereditary hypophosphatemic rickets with hypercalciuria), (e) increased 1,25 dihydroxy vitamin D synthesis (sarcoidosis, neoplasm) and (f) increased renal prostaglandin E2 production (Bartter

syndrome), (g) too high dietary salt intake and too low potassium intake. Although these secondary forms of hypercalciuria are rare, a comprehensive evaluation for an underlying metabolic disorder should be undertaken in the presence, failure to thrive, growth retardation, rickets, acidbase disturbances, renal dysfunction, proteinuria, electrolyte imbalance, dysmorphic features or poor response to therapy.

Hypercalciuria, is defined on a 'statistical' basis in children as urinary calcium excretion of >4 mg/kg/day or a calcium/ creatinine ratio >0.21 mg/mg (107). Urinary calcium excretion is affected by both ethnicity and age, with much higher excretion in Caucasian compared to African-American children and in infants and young children compared to older children (108). It is our belief that pharmacologic agents should be reserved for children with symptomatic hypercalcuria.

When idiopathic hypercalciuria is confirmed in symptomatic children, the initial management is to assess whether dietary manipulation and increased fluid intake can normalize calcium excretion and/or eliminate the associated symptoms. We recommend a diet that contains the United States recommended daily allowance (RDA) of protein, calcium and potassium, and avoids excessive sodium and oxalates. A list of foods high and low in oxalates can be found in Table 1. Contrary to past practice, dietary restriction of calcium is not recommended in children with hypercalciuria as it puts the growing child at risk for negative calcium balance, poor bone mineralization and an increase in urinary oxalate excretion. Compliance with these dietary recommendation can be assessed in part by measuring urine Na/K ratio which should be <2.5 meq/meq. Some children may not respond or fully comply with such dietary manipulations nor with the traditional recommendation of high fluid intake and may benefit from pharmacological treatment (45) with potassium citrate at 0.5 to 1 mEq $HCO_3/kg/dose$ given orally two times daily (2) and/ or a thiazide diuretic such as hydrochlorothiazide at 0.5 to 1 mg/kg/dose given orally twice daily or chlorothiazide 7.5 to 12.5 mg/dose given orally twice daily (2, 109). Children on long term thiazide diuretics need to be monitored for dyselectrolytemia, hyperlipidemia, hyperglycemia and hypotension. One can consider under special circumstances to add amiloride as it further increases the hypocalciuric effect and decreases potassium loss(2).

5. SUMMARY

Hypercalciuria, while a common disorder may be responsible for a range of clinical symptoms and presentations that range from hematuria, voiding dysfunction, flank pain, abdominal pain, nephrolithiasis, urinary tract infection and decreased bone mineral density. Its role in hypertension and nocturnal enuresis at present is controversial. The more common idiopathic hypercalciuria can be controlled in most cases with dietary modifications and/ or drug therapy with potassium citrate or thiazides. The rare secondary hypercalciuria has to be addressed on a case by case basis and by the nature of metabolic disorder.

Table 1. Foods that are high and low in oxalate

High oxala	ite foods
•	Chocolate / Cocoa
•	Tea
•	Nuts
•	Leafy greens: collard greens, dandelion greens, swiss
	chard, spinach, escarole, mustard greens, sorrel, kale,
	rhubarb
•	Sweet potatoes
•	Pepper
•	Beets
•	Orange juice/ Cranberry juice/ Grape juice
•	Gelatin
•	Berries: blackberries, blueberries, strawberries, raspberries,
	currants, gooseberries
•	Okra
•	Celery
•	Grits
Low oxalate foods	
•	Dairy products
•	Meat
•	Fish
•	Eggs
•	Cereals
•	Cereals Apples
• • •	Cereals Apples Peaches
• • •	Cereals Apples Peaches Pears
• • • •	Cereals Apples Peaches Pears Pineapple
• • • •	Cereals Apples Peaches Pears Pineapple Lettuce
• • • •	Cereals Apples Peaches Pears Pineapple Lettuce Cabbage
• • • • •	Cereals Apples Peaches Pears Pineapple Lettuce Cabbage Asparagus
• • • • • •	Cereals Apples Peaches Pears Pineapple Lettuce Cabbage Asparagus Peas
• • • • • • •	Cereals Apples Peaches Pears Pineapple Lettuce Cabbage Asparagus Peas Banana
• • • • • • •	Cereals Apples Peaches Pears Pineapple Lettuce Cabbage Asparagus Peas

It has been shown clinically that control of elevated urinary calcium excretion allays the common symptoms of dysuria, dysfunctional voiding, hematuria and abdominal pain. Antihypercalciuric treatment has been found to be effective in decreasing urinary tract infections in hypercalciuric children with recurrent UTIs and in delaying the recurrence of new stone and/ or growth of a pre-existing stone. Its role in prevention or treatment of low bone mineral density in children is not known. The issues related to need for anticalciuric therapy, nature of therapy (dietary, citrate or thiazides) or duration of therapy in hypercalciuria children as evidence based therapy remains to be determined. Although not known at the present time, research is definitely needed to address the questions such as: Is it possible to identify children with hypercalciuria who are at risk for nephrolithiasis-or for low bone mineral density as an adult, and if interventions done during childhood will have an impact on development of nephrolithiasis and/ or osteoporosis as an adult. Future studies designed to address these complex issues associated with hypercalciuria will allow the pediatric community to treat this condition as evidenced based therapies rather than anecdotal experiences.

6. REFERENCES

1. Moore ES, Coe FL, McMann BJ, Favus MJ. Idiopathic hypercalciuria in children: prevalence and metabolic characteristics. *J Pediatr.* 92, 906-910 (1978)

2. Gillespie RS, Stapleton FB. Nephrolithiasis in children. *Pediatr Rev.* 25, 131-139 (2004)

3. Albright F, Henneman P, Benedict PH, Forbes AP. Idiopathic hypercalciuria: a preliminary report. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine*. 46, 1077-1081 (1953)

4. Fukugawa M, Kurokawa K. Calcium homeostasis and imbalance. *Nephron*. 92 Suppl 1, 41-45 (2002)

5. Kurokawa K. The kidney and calcium homeostasis. *Kidney Int Suppl.* 44, S97-105 (1994)

6. Houillier P, Froissart M, Maruani G, Blanchard A. What serum calcium can tell us and what it can't. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 21, 29-32 (2006)

7. Houillier P, Nicolet-Barousse L, Maruani G, Paillard M. What keeps serum calcium levels stable? *Joint Bone Spine*. 70, 407-413 (2003)

8. Hoenderop JG, van der Kemp AW, Hartog A *et al.* Molecular identification of the apical Ca2+ channel in 1, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3-responsive epithelia. *The Journal of biological chemistry.* 274, 8375-8378 (1999)

9. Reichel H, Koeffler HP, Norman AW. The role of the vitamin D endocrine system in health and disease. *N Engl J Med.* 320, 980-991 (1989)

10. Reilly RF, Ellison DH. Mammalian distal tubule: physiology, pathophysiology, and molecular anatomy. *Physiological review.*, 80, 277-313 (2000)

11. Suki WN. Calcium transport in the nephron. *The American journal of physiology*. 237, F1-6 (1979)

12. Frick KK, Bushinsky DA. Molecular mechanisms of primary hypercalciuria. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 14, 1082-1095 (2003)

13. Loffing J, Loffing-Cueni D, Valderrabano V *et al.* Distribution of transcellular calcium and sodium transport pathways along mouse distal nephron. *American journal of physiology.* 281, F1021-1027 (2001)

14. Bindels RJ, Hartog A, Timmermans J, Van Os CH. Active Ca2+ transport in primary cultures of rabbit kidney CCD: stimulation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and PTH. *The American journal of physiology*. 261, F799-807 (1991)

15. Shimizu T, Yoshitomi K, Nakamura M, Imai M. Effects of PTH, calcitonin, and cAMP on calcium transport in rabbit distal nephron segments. *The American journal of physiology*. 259, F408-414 (1990)

16. Maierhofer WJ, Lemann J, Jr., Gray RW, Cheung HS. Dietary calcium and serum 1,25-(OH)2-vitamin D concentrations as determinants of calcium balance in healthy men. *Kidney Int.* 26, 752-759 (1984)

17. Maierhofer WJ, Gray RW, Cheung HS, Lemann J, Jr. Bone resorption stimulated by elevated serum 1,25-(OH)2-vitamin D concentrations in healthy men. *Kidney Int.* 24, 555-560 (1983)

18. Santos F, Smith MJ, Chan JC. Hypercalciuria associated with long-term administration of calcitriol (1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3). Action of hydrochlorothiazide. *Am J Dis Child.* 140, 139-142 (1986)

19. Kaplan RA, Haussler MR, Deftos LJ, Bone H, Pak CY. The role of 1 alpha, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D in the mediation of intestinal hyperabsorption of calcium in primary hyperparathyroidism and absorptive hypercalciuria. *J Clin Invest.* 59, 756-760 (1977)

20. Ghazali A, Fuentes V, Desaint C *et al.* Low bone mineral density and peripheral blood monocyte activation profile in calcium stone formers with idiopathic hypercalciuria. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 82, 32-38 (1997)

21. Pacifici R, Rothstein M, Rifas L *et al.* Increased monocyte interleukin-1 activity and decreased vertebral bone density in patients with fasting idiopathic hypercalciuria. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 71, 138-145 (1990)

22. Chines A, Petersen DJ, Schranck FW, Whyte MP. Hypercalciuria in children severely affected with osteogenesis imperfecta. *J Pediatr.* 119, 51-57 (1991)

23. Chines A, Boniface A, McAlister W, Whyte M. Hypercalciuria in osteogenesis imperfecta: a follow-up study to assess renal effects. *Bone.* 16, 333-339 (1995)

24. Whyte MP. Heritable metabolic and dysplastic bone diseases. *Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America*. 19, 133-173 (1990)

25. Fallon MD, Teitelbaum SL, Weinstein RS, Goldfischer S, Brown DM, Whyte MP. Hypophosphatasia: clinicopathologic comparison of the infantile, childhood, and adult forms. *Medicine*. 63, 12-24 (1984)

26. Pak CY, Kaplan R, Bone H, Townsend J, Waters O. A simple test for the diagnosis of absorptive, resorptive and renal hypercalciurias. *N Engl J Med.* 292, 497-500 (1975)

27. Bataille P, Fardellone P, Ghazali A *et al.* Pathophysiology and treatment of idiopathic hypercalciuria. *Current opinion in rheumatology*. 10, 373-388 (1998)

28. Bataille P, Achard JM, Fournier A *et al.* Diet, vitamin D and vertebral mineral density in hypercalciuric calcium stone formers. *Kidney Int.* 39, 1193-1205 (1991)

29. Coe FL, Canterbury JM, Firpo JJ, Reiss E. Evidence for secondary hyperparathyroidism in idiopathic hypercalciuria. *J Clin Invest.* 52, 134-142 (1973)

30. Zerwekh JE, Pak CY. Selective effects of thiazide therapy on serum 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and

intestinal calcium absorption in renal and absorptive hypercalciurias. *Metabolism*. 29, 13-17 (1980)

31. Coe FL, Favus MJ, Crockett T *et al.* Effects of lowcalcium diet on urine calcium excretion, parathyroid function and serum 1,25(OH)2D3 levels in patients with idiopathic hypercalciuria and in normal subjects. *The American journal of medicine*. 72, 25-32 (1982)

32. Stapleton FB, Langman CB, Bittle J, Miller LA. Increased serum concentrations of 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D in children with fasting hypercalciuria. *J Pediatr*. 110, 234-237 (1987)

33. Stapleton FB, Jones DP, Miller LA. Evaluation of bone metabolism in children with hypercalciuria. *Seminars in nephrology*. 9, 75-78 (1989)

34. Aladjem M, Barr J, Lahat E, Bistritzer T. Renal and absorptive hypercalciuria: a metabolic disturbance with varying and interchanging modes of expression. *Pediatrics*. 97, 216-219 (1996)

35. Curhan GC, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ. Family history and risk of kidney stones. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 8, 1568-1573 (1997)

36. Polito C, La Manna A, Cioce F, Villani J, Nappi B, Di Toro R. Clinical presentation and natural course of idiopathic hypercalciuria in children. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 15, 211-214 (2000)

37. Reed BY, Heller HJ, Gitomer WL, Pak CY. Mapping a gene defect in absorptive hypercalciuria to chromosome 1q23.3-q24. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 84, 3907-3913 (1999)

38. Reed BY, Gitomer WL, Heller HJ *et al.* Identification and characterization of a gene with base substitutions associated with the absorptive hypercalciuria phenotype and low spinal bone density. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 87, 1476-1485 (2002)

39. Imamura K, Tonoki H, Wakui K *et al.* 4q33-qter deletion and absorptive hypercalciuria: report of two unrelated girls. *Am J Med Genet.* 78, 52-54 (1998)

40. Giuffre M, La Placa S, Carta M *et al.* Hypercalciuria and kidney calcifications in terminal 4q deletion syndrome: further evidence for a putative gene on 4q. *American journal of medical genetics.* 126, 186-190 (2004)

41. Moe OW, Bonny O. Genetic hypercalciuria. J Am Soc Nephrol. 16, 729-745 (2005)

42. Resnick M, Pridgen DB, Goodman HO. Genetic predisposition to formation of calcium oxalate renal calculi. *N Engl J Med.* 278, 1313-1318 (1968)

43. Coe FL, Evan A, Worcester E. Kidney stone disease. J Clin Invest. 115, 2598-2608 (2005)

44. Lande MB, Varade W, Erkan E, Niederbracht Y, Schwartz GJ. Role of urinary supersaturation in the evaluation of children with urolithiasis. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 20, 491-494 (2005)

45. Alon US, Zimmerman H, Alon M. Evaluation and treatment of pediatric idiopathic urolithiasis-revisited. *Pediatr Nephro.*, 19, 516-520 (2004)

46. Stapleton FB. Childhood stones. *Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America*. 31, 1001-1015, ix (2002)

47. Walther PC, Lamm D, Kaplan GW. Pediatric urolithiases: a ten-year review. *Pediatrics*. 65, 1068-1072 (1980)

48. Cameron MA, Sakhaee K, Moe OW. Nephrolithiasis in children. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 20, 1587-1592 (2005)

49. Alon US, Berenbom A. Idiopathic hypercalciuria of childhood: 4- to 11-year outcome. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 14, 1011-1015 (2000)

50. Garcia CD, Miller LA, Stapleton FB. Natural history of hematuria associated with hypercalciuria in children. *Am J Dis Child.* 145, 1204-1207 (1991)

51. Stapleton FB. Idiopathic hypercalciuria: association with isolated hematuria and risk for urolithiasis in children. The Southwest Pediatric Nephrology Study Group. *Kidney Int.* 37, 807-811 (1990)

52. Lerolle N, Lantz B, Paillard F *et al.* Risk factors for nephrolithiasis in patients with familial idiopathic hypercalciuria. *The American journal of medicine.* 113, 99-103 (2002)

53. Resnick MI, Persky L. Summary of the National Institutes of Arthritis, Diabetes, Digestive and Kidney Diseases conference on urolithiasis: state of the art and future research needs. *J Urol.* 153, 4-9 (1995)

54. Trinchieri A, Ostini F, Nespoli R, Rovera F, Montanari E, Zanetti G. A prospective study of recurrence rate and risk factors for recurrence after a first renal stone. *J Urol.* 162, 27-30 (1999)

55. Noe HN. Hypercalciuria and pediatric stone recurrences with and without structural abnormalities. *J Urol.* 164 1094-1096 (2000)

56. Ingelfinger JR, Davis AE, Grupe WE. Frequency and etiology of gross hematuria in a general pediatric setting. *Pediatrics*. 59, 557-561 (1977)

57. Vehaskari VM, Rapola J, Koskimies O, Savilahti E, Vilska J, Hallman N. Microscopic hematuria in school children: epidemiology and clinicopathologic evaluation. *J Pediat.*, 95, 676-684 (1979)

58. Patel HP, Bissler JJ. Hematuria in children. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* 48, 1519-1537 (2001)

59. Stapleton FB, Roy S, 3rd, Noe HN, Jerkins G. Hypercalciuria in children with hematuria. *N Engl J Med.* 310, 1345-1348 (1984)

60. Parekh DJ, Pope JCt, Adams MC, Brock JW, 3rd. The association of an increased urinary calcium-to-creatinine ratio, and asymptomatic gross and microscopic hematuria in children. *J Urol.* 167(1), 272-274 (2002)

61. Penido MG, Diniz JS, Moreira ML *et al.* [Idiopathic hypercalciuria: presentation of 471 cases]. *Jornal de pediatria*, 77, 101-104 (2001)

62. Parekh DJ, Pope JI, Adams MC, Brock JW, 3rd. The role of hypercalciuria in a subgroup of dysfunctional voiding syndromes of childhood. *J Urol.* 164, 1008-1010 (2000)

63. Vachvanichsanong P, Malagon M, Moore ES. Recurrent abdominal and flank pain in children with idiopathic hypercalciuria. *Acta Paediatr*. 90, 643-648 (2001)

64. Martin PY, Schrier RW. Role of aquaporin-2 water channels in urinary concentration and dilution defects. *Kidney Int Suppl.* 65, S57-62 (1998)

65. Valenti G, Laera A, Pace G *et al.* Urinary aquaporin 2 and calciuria correlate with the severity of enuresis in children. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 11, 1873-1881 (2000)

66. Pace G, Aceto G, Cormio L *et al.* Nocturnal enuresis can be caused by absorptive hypercalciuria. *Scandinavian journal of urology and nephrology.* 33, 111-114 (1999)

67. Kamperis K, Hagstroem S, Rittig S, Djurhuus JC. Urinary calcium excretion in healthy children and children with primary monosymptomatic nocturnal enuresis. *J Urol.* 176, 770-773 (2006)

68. Neveus T, Hansell P, Stenberg A. Vasopressin and hypercalciuria in enuresis: a reappraisal. *BJU Int.* 90, 725-729 (2002)

69. Aceto G, Penza R, Coccioli MS *et al*. Enuresis subtypes based on nocturnal hypercalciuria: a multicenter study. *J Urol*. 170(4 Pt 2), 1670-1673 (2003)

70. Downs SM. Technical report: urinary tract infections in febrile infants and young children. The Urinary Tract Subcommittee of the American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Quality Improvement. *Pediatrics*. 103, e54 (1999)

71. Alper BS, Curry SH. Urinary tract infection in children. *Am Fam Physician*. 72, 2483-2488 (2005)

72. Practice parameter: the diagnosis, treatment, and evaluation of the initial urinary tract infection in febrile infants and young children. American Academy of Pediatrics. Committee on Quality Improvement.

Subcommittee on Urinary Tract Infection. *Pediatrics*. 103, 843-852 (1999)

73. Milliner DS, Murphy ME. Urolithiasis in pediatric patients. *Mayo Clinic proceedings*. 68, 241-248 (1993)

74. Laufer J, Boichis H. Urolithiasis in children: current medical management. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 3, 317-331 (1989)

75. Akil I, Kavukcu S, Inan S *et al*. Evaluation of histologic changes in the urinary tract of hypercalciuric rats. *Pediatr Nephrol*. 21, 1681-1689 (2006)

76. Stojanovic VD, Milosevic BO, Djapic MB, Bubalo JD. Idiopathic hypercalciuria associated with urinary tract infection in children. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 22, 1291-1295 (2007)

77. Biyikli NK, Alpay H, Guran T. Hypercalciuria and recurrent urinary tract infections: incidence and symptoms in children over 5 years of age. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 20, 1435-1438 (2005)

78. Vachvanichsanong P, Malagon M, Moore ES. Urinary tract infection in children associated with idiopathic hypercalciuria. *Scandinavian journal of urology and nephrology*. 35, 112-116 (2001)

79. Lopez MM, Castillo LA, Chavez JB, Ramones C. Hypercalciuria and recurrent urinary tract infection in Venezuelan children. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 13, 433-437 (1999)

80. van der Sluis IM, de Muinck Keizer-Schrama SM. Osteoporosis in childhood: bone density of children in health and disease. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* 14, 817-832 (2001)

81. Steelman J, Zeitler P. Osteoporosis in pediatrics. *Pediatr Rev.* 22, 56-65 (2001)

82. Saggese G, Baroncelli GI, Bertelloni S. Osteoporosis in children and adolescents: diagnosis, risk factors, and prevention. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab.* 14, 833-859 (2001)

83. Lawoyin S, Sismilich S, Browne R, Pak CY. Bone mineral content in patients with calcium urolithiasis. *Metabolism.* 28, 1250-1254 (1979)

84. Barkin J, Wilson DR, Manuel MA, Bayley A, Murray T, Harrison J. Bone mineral content in idiopathic calcium nephrolithiasis. *Mineral and electrolyte metabolism.* 11, 19-24 (1985)

85. Pietschmann F, Breslau NA, Pak CY. Reduced vertebral bone density in hypercalciuric nephrolithiasis. *J Bone Miner Res.* 7, 1383-1388 (1992)

86. Heilberg IP, Martini LA, Szejnfeld VL *et al.* Bone disease in calcium stone forming patients. *Clin Nephrol.* 42, 175-182 (1994)

87. Vezzoli G, Rubinacci A, Bianchin C *et al.* Intestinal calcium absorption is associated with bone mass in stone-forming women with idiopathic hypercalciuria. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 42, 1177-1183 (2003)

88. Asplin JR, Donahue S, Kinder J, Coe FL. Urine calcium excretion predicts bone loss in idiopathic hypercalciuria. *Kidney Int.* 70, 1463-1467 (2006)

89. Lauderdale DS, Thisted RA, Wen M, Favus MJ. Bone mineral density and fracture among prevalent kidney stone cases in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *J Bone Miner Res.* 16, 1893-1898 (2001)

90. Borghi L, Meschi T, Guerra A *et al*. Vertebral mineral content in diet-dependent and diet-independent hypercalciuria. *J Urol.* 146, 1334-1338 (1991)

91. Lindergard B, Colleen S, Mansson W, Rademark C, Rogland B. Calcium-loading test and bone disease in patients with urolithiasis. *Proceedings of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association*. 20, 460-465 (1983)

92. Melton LJ, 3rd, Crowson CS, Khosla S, Wilson DM, O'Fallon WM. Fracture risk among patients with urolithiasis: a population-based cohort study. *Kidney Int.* 53, 459-464 (1998)

93. Malluche HH, Tschoepe W, Ritz E, Meyer-Sabellek W, Massry SG. Abnormal bone histology in idiopathic hypercalciuria. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 50, 654-658 (1980)

94. Penido MG, Lima EM, Marino VS, Tupinamba AL, Franca A, Souto MF. Bone alterations in children with idiopathic hypercalciuria at the time of diagnosis. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 18, 133-139 (2003)

95. Penido MG, Lima EM, Souto MF, Marino VS, Tupinamba AL, Franca A. Hypocitraturia: a risk factor for reduced bone mineral density in idiopathic hypercalciuria? *Pediatr Nephrol.* 21, 74-78 (2006)

96. Garcia-Nieto V, Ferrandez C, Monge M, de Sequera M, Rodrigo MD. Bone mineral density in pediatric patients with idiopathic hypercalciuria. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 11, 578-583 (1997)

97. Freundlich M, Alonzo E, Bellorin-Font E, Weisinger JR. Reduced bone mass in children with idiopathic hypercalciuria and in their asymptomatic mothers. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 17, 1396-1401 (2002)

98. Pak CY, Heller HJ, Pearle MS, Odvina CV, Poindexter JR, Peterson RD. Prevention of stone formation and bone loss in absorptive hypercalciuria by combined dietary and pharmacological interventions. *J Urol.* 169, 465-469 (2003)

99. Pak CY, Peterson RD, Poindexter J. Prevention of spinal bone loss by potassium citrate in cases of calcium urolithiasis. *J Urol.* 168, 31-34 (2002)

100. Adams JS, Song CF, Kantorovich V. Rapid recovery of bone mass in hypercalciuric, osteoporotic men treated with hydrochlorothiazide. *Ann Intern Med.* 130, 658-660 (1999)

101. Gennari C, Nami R, Bianchini C, Pavese G, Lucani B, Perrone AF. Renal excretion of calcium in human hypertension. *American journal of nephrology*. 6 Suppl 1, 124-127 (1986)

102. Young EW, Morris CD, McCarron DA. Urinary calcium excretion in essential hypertension. *The Journal of laboratory and clinical medicine*. 120, 624-632 (1992)

103. Quereda C, Orte L, Sabater J, Navarro-Antolin J, Villafruela JJ, Ortuno J. Urinary calcium excretion in treated and untreated essential hypertension. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 7, 1058-1065 (1996)

104. Malberti F, Surian M, Colussi G *et al.* Evaluation of calcium and phosphate metabolism in patients affected by essential hypertension and calcium nephrolithiasis. *American journal of nephrology.*, 6 Suppl 1, 131-133 (1986)

105. Tisler A, Pierratos A, Honey JD, Bull SB, Rosivall L, Logan AG. High urinary excretion of uric acid combined with high excretion of calcium links kidney stone disease to familial hypertension. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 17, 253-259 (2002)

106. Alon U, Warady BA, Hellerstein S. Hypercalciuria in the frequency-dysuria syndrome of childhood. *J Pediatr*. 116, 103-105 (1990)

107. Butani L, Kalia A. Idiopathic hypercalciuria in childrenhow valid are the existing diagnostic criteria? *Pediatr Nephrol.* 19, 577-582 (2004)

108. So NP, Osorio AV, Simon SD, Alon US. Normal urinary calcium/creatinine ratios in African-American and Caucasian children. *Pediatr Nephr.*, 16, 133-139 (2001)

109. Reusz GS, Dobos M, Tulassay T, Miltenyi M. Hydrochlorothiazide treatment of children with hypercalciuria: effects and side effects. *Pediatr Nephrol.* 7, 699-702 (1993)

Abbreviations: PTH: parathyroid hormone; 1,25 (OH2)D3: 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3; TALH: thick ascending loop of Henle; UTI: urinary tract infections; RDA: recommended daily allowance.

Key Words: Nephrolithiasis, Bone density, Voiding dysfunction, Citrate, Thiazide diuretics, Review

Send correspondence to: Andrew Schwaderer, Division of Nephrology, Nationwide Children's Hospital, The Ohio State University, 700 Children's Drive, Columbus, OH 43205, United States of America, Tel: 614-722-4360, Fax: 614-722-6482, E-mail: schwadea@pediatrics.ohio-state.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol1E.htm